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1 

The directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 

Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial 

year ended December 31, 2017. 

 

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 

financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company, as set out on pages 12 to 99, are 

drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 

December 31, 2017, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and 

changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there 

are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due. 

 

1. Directors 

 

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 

  

Dato’ Dr. Ong Bee Huat  (Executive director) 

Dr. Wang Kai Yuen  (Independent director) 

Dr. Wong Wen-Young, Winston  (Non-executive director) 

Dr. Chen Seow Phun, John  (Independent director) 

Dr. Lee Kuo Chuen, David  (Independent director) 

Mr Ong Jia Ming  (Executive director) 

 

In accordance with Articles 88 and 89 of the Company's Articles of Association, Dr Wong Wen-Young, 

Winston, Dr Lee Kuo Chuen, David and Mr Ong Jia Ming retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-election. 

 

 

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 

and debentures 

 

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of 

the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate, except for the 
options to acquire additional shares of the Company arising from the convertible bonds as mentioned in 
paragraph 4 of the Directors’ statement. 
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3. Directors' interests in shares and debentures 

 

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share 

capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors' 

shareholdings kept by the Company under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows: 

 

 Direct interest 

 

At the  

beginning of 
financial year 

At the  

end of  
financial year 

   

HLH Group Limited   

Ordinary shares   

   

Dr. Wang Kai Yuen 7,303,000 7,303,000 

Dr. Wong Wen-Young, Winston 415,255,500 415,255,500 

Dato' Dr. Ong Bee Huat 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 

Mr Ong Jia Ming 364,854,150 264,854,150 
   
   

   

The directors’ interests in the shares and options of the Company at January 21, 2018 were the same at 

December 31, 2017. 

 

 

4. Share options 

 

(a)  Option to take up unissued shares 

 
  During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company was granted. 
 
 

(b) Option exercised 
 

  During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company issued by virtue of the exercise 
of an option to take up unissued shares. 

 

 
(c) Unissued shares under option 

 
  At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option, 

except for convertible bonds subscribed by a director during the year which entitled the director 
to convert the convertible bond into 100 million ordinary shares at a fixed conversion price of 
$0.01 per share. 

 

 

5. Audit Committee 

 

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with section 201B (5) of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50. The functions performed are detailed in the Report on Corporate 

Governance. 
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6. Auditors 

 

     The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

…………………………………………………… 

Dato’ Dr. Ong Bee Huat 

Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

…………………………………………………… 

Dr. Wang Kai Yuen 

Director 

 

 

 

April 13, 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  
 
 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of HLH Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and 
the statement of financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2017, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, as set out on pages 12 to 99. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial 
position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore 
(“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and of the consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the 

Company for the year ended on that date. 
 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (the “ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 
 
Fair value measurement of biological assets 
 
During the year, the Group started the cultivation of 
cassava (tapioca) and the production of cassava starch. 
The Group recognises the unharvested cassava as 
biological assets at fair value less cost to sell, which 
amounted to $7.4 million as at December 31, 2017. The 
fair value of biological assets is determined by an 
independent valuer engaged by management, with 
certain input data provided by management, using the 
income approach method. 
 
The valuation of the biological assets was significant to 
our audit due to their magnitude and the complexity of 
the valuation model used. The valuation involved 
significant estimates used by the independent valuer. 
These estimates included, amongst others, unit selling 
price, harvest yield, planted areas and harvesting costs. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
As part of our audit procedures, we have: 

• assessed the competency, capability and 
objectivity of the independent valuer; 

• involved and discussed with our internal 
valuation specialists in reviewing the 
reasonableness of the valuation reports, 
which included the review of the 
valuation method used and the key 
estimates such as unit selling price, 
harvest yield, planted area and the 
harvesting costs, used in the valuation 
assessment;  

• assessed the appropriateness of 
significant assumptions by comparing 
against the latest selling prices and 
reasonableness of harvesting costs; and 

• reviewed the appropriateness of the 
accounting and disclosures of the 
biological assets, fair value changes and 
related deferred tax adjustment 
corresponding with fair value changes in 
the financial statements. 

 

The related disclosures are made in Notes 3 and 

13 to the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 

 
Fair value measurement of investment properties 
 
 

As at December 31, 2017, the Group has investment 

properties amounting to $37.9 million relating to land 

and property held in Cambodia and Singapore as 

disclosed in Note 17.  

 

The investment properties in Cambodia are stated at 

fair value based on independent external valuations 

using the direct comparison approach method.  The fair 

value of the investment property in Singapore is 

derived from the income approach method based on the 

discounted cash flow projection by management.  

 

These valuation processes involve significant 

judgement in determining the appropriate valuation 

methodology to be used, and in estimating the 

underlying assumptions to be applied. These estimates 

included, amongst others, comparable and weightage 

given to each market price for the Cambodian 

investment properties; and discount rates, rental rate, 

extension of the rental agreement by the tenant and 

the ability of the Group to extend the lease of the 

property with the landlord beyond the current term for 

the investment property in Singapore.  

 

Additionally, the ability of the Company to recover 

amounts of $30.4 million (Note 9) due from certain 

subsidiaries is largely dependent on the value of these 

properties. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

As part of our audit procedures,  

 

• we have assessed the competency, capability 

and objectivity of the independent valuers 

engaged by management; 

• for the Cambodian investment properties, 

with the assistance of our internal valuation 

specialist, we evaluated the appropriateness 

of the valuation techniques used by the 

independent valuer for the respective 

investment properties. Taking into account 

the nature of each investment property, we 

benchmarked and compared the values used 

by the independent valuer to comparable 

property transactions, where available;  

• for the Singapore investment property, we 

have assessed management’s discounted 

cash flow projection and challenged 

management’s key assumptions, including 

the rental rate,  discount rate and the 

likelihood of the extension of the property by 

the landlord. 

• we have also assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures in respect of the inputs for the 

valuation and the valuation methodologies 

adopted by management and the independent 

valuers in relation to these investment 

properties.  

 

The related disclosures are made in Notes 3 and 

17 to the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 
 
Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 
 
Impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment 
 

The Group has significant machineries and equipment, 

motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture and 

fittings in Cambodia. The carrying amount of these 

assets amounted to $94.4 million as at December 31, 

2017. 

 

The Group assessed for impairment of property, plant 

and equipment when there is an indication of 

impairment of the assets. The agriculture division 

incurred a loss for the year. Accordingly, management 

has engaged an independent external valuer to 

determine the recoverable amounts of the property, 

plant and equipment based on the fair value less cost 

of disposal. The determination of fair value less cost of 

disposal also involves significant assumptions and 

estimates which included, amongst others, condition 

and usage of the machineries and equipment and the 

estimated cost and time for replacement.  

 

 
 
 
 

As part of our audit procedures,  

• we have assessed the competency, capability 

and objectivity of the independent valuer 

engaged by management; 

• with the assistance of our internal valuation 

specialist, we evaluated the appropriateness 

of the valuation techniques used by the 

independent valuer for property, plant and 

equipment. Taking into account the nature of 

each asset, we benchmarked and challenged 

the key assumptions used in their valuation by 

reference to comparable property 

transactions, where available; 

• we have also assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures in respect of the inputs for the 

valuation and the valuation methodologies 

adopted by the independent valuer in relation 

to these property, plant and equipment.  

 

The related disclosures are made in Notes 3 and 

16 to the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 

 
Revenue recognition 
 
 

The Group is involved in the agriculture and property 

development. During the year, the Group early adopted 
FRS 115 with effect from financial year ended December 
31, 2017.  

 
Specifically, for property development, management 
adopts the percentage of completion method for 

revenue recognition as performance obligation is 
satisfied over time. Accordingly, the comparative 
figures for December 31, 2016 were restated for the 
change in accounting policy. 
 
The Group’s early adoption of FRS 115 resulted in the 
accounting of the revenue from property development 
division using the percentage of completion which 
involves judgement and estimation by management. 
 
The stage of completion is measured by the total costs 
incurred to date as compared to the total budgeted costs 
of the development projects as approved by 
management. Significant judgements are required to 
estimate the total budgeted contract costs. Any changes 
to the total budgeted contract costs will impact the 
percentage of completion, and a resulting impact to the 
revenue recognised. 
 

 
 
 
 
As part of our audit procedures, we have: 
• evaluated the design and implementation of 

the relevant controls of the Group in respect of 
revenue recognition; 

• examined the standard Sale and Purchase 
Agreement; 

• reviewed the legal letter for the enforceability 
of the terms and conditions in the agreement;  

• assessed the reasonableness of the actual 
costs incurred to date and estimated contract 
costs to completion in determining the 
accuracy of the percentage of completion 
(POC); 

• assessed the appropriateness of revenue 
recognised using (POC) method of 
development property; and 

• assessed the Group’s accounting for revenue 
recognition in accordance with the early 
adoption of FRS 115. 
 

The related disclosures are made in Notes 2, 3 

and 26 to the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

Other Matters 
 

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended December 31, 2016 were audited 
by another firm of auditors who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements in their 
report dated March 29, 2017. 
 

 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

 

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

  

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 

accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 

from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded 

as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability 

of assets. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 

or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as 

a going concern. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

 

HLH GROUP LIMITED  

 

 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.  We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 

not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by the 

subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tsia Chee Wah. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 

Public Accountants and  

Chartered Accountants  

Singapore 

 

 

 

April 13, 2018 

 

 



HLH GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

12 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
December 31, 2017 
                                   Group  Company 

 Note 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
        January 1, 

2016 
December 31, 

2017 
       December 31, 

2016 

  $'000 $'000 $'000         $'000        $'000 
   (Restated) (Restated)   

Assets       

       

Current assets       

Cash and bank balances 6 2,021 6,746 3,419 639 272 
Trade receivables  7 559 7,837 4,764 - – 
Other receivables and deposits 8 722 920 800 121 – 
Prepayments  763 253 326 22 4 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 9 - - - 30,422 99,626 
Advances to a non-controlling 

shareholder 10 - 16 
 

- - 
– 
- 

Investment securities 11 2 2 2 - – 
Inventories 12 496 687 627 - – 
Biological assets 13 7,350 - 206 - – 
Development properties 14 15,098 18,290 14,440 - – 

  27,011 34,751 24,584 31,204 99,902 
Assets classified as held for sale 15 2,807 - - - – 

Total current assets  29,818 34,751 24,584 31,204 99,902 

       
Non-current assets       

Other receivables and deposits 8 40 - - - - 

Property, plant and equipment 16 94,908 35,619 15,989 171 216 
Investment properties 17 37,880 89,448 102,389 617 618 

Intangible assets  11 - - - - 
Investment in subsidiaries 18 - - - 77,160 1,000 

Total non-current assets  132,839 125,067 118,378 77,948 1,834 

Total assets  162,657 159,818 142,962 109,152 101,736 

       

    
 

  
Liabilities and equity       
       

Current liabilities    
 

  

Trade payables 20 7,336 1,459 3,465 - – 
Other payables and accruals 21 2,463 5,547 2,584 462 494 
Amount due to subsidiaries 9 - - - 11,846 8,594 
Loan from a director  - - 4,737 - - 
Provision for taxation  313 169 135 - - 
Bank loans and overdraft 19(a) 3,301 1,706 6,673 - - 

Finance lease liabilities 19(b) 122 77 84 45 51 

Total current liabilities  13,535 8,958 17,678 12,353 9,139 

       

Non-current liabilities       

Bank loans 19(a) 1,931 4,485 
 

2,693 - - 

Finance lease liabilities 19(b) 1,092 708 691 - 45 

Other payables and accruals  - - 2,261 - 
– 

Convertible bonds 22 1,996 - - 1,996 – 

Deferred tax liabilities 23 16,437 14,891 14,090 - – 

Total non-current liabilities  21,456 20,084 19,735 1,996 45 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
December 31, 2017 

 
 
                                 Group                        Company 

 Note 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
January 1, 

2016 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
   (Restated) (Restated)   
Capital, reserves and non-

controlling interests    
 

  

Share capital 24 94,602 94,602 76,897 94,602 94,602 

(Accumulated losses) Retained 

earnings 25 (9,775) (11,825) (18,129) 656 (1,591) 

Capital reserve 25 418 414 481 (455) (459) 

Asset revaluation reserve 25 40,631 40,521 40,521 - - 

Foreign currency translation 

reserve 25 1,790 7,087 5,703 - - 

       
       
Equity attributable to owners of  
  the Company  127,666 130,799 105,473 94,803 92,552 
Non-controlling interests  -* (23) 76 - – 
       

       
Total equity  127,666 130,776 105,549 94,803 92,552 
       
       
Total liabilities and equity  162,657 159,818 142,962 109,152 101,736 
       

 
 
* Balance less than $1,000. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 

 

 
  Group 
 Note 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

   (Restated) 
    
Revenue 26 12,600 10,344 
Cost of sales  (6,232) (2,497) 
    
    
Gross profit  6,368 7,847 
Other income 27 15,304 7,530 
Distribution and selling expenses  (1,582) (1,452) 
Administrative expenses  (9,748) (6,214) 

Other expenses  (4,969) (51) 
Finance costs 28 (469) (681) 
    
    
Profit before income tax  4,904 6,979 
Income tax expense 29 (2,854) (696) 
    
    
Profit for the year 30 2,050 6,283 
    
    
Other comprehensive income:    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Foreign currency translation  (5,297) 1,385 

    
    
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, net of tax  (5,297) 1,385 
    
    

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year  (3,247) 7,668 
    

    
Profit attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  2,050 6,304 

Non-controlling interests  - (21) 
    
    
  2,050 6,283 
    

    
Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  (3,247) 7,688 
Non-controlling interests  - (20) 
    
    
  (3,247)  7,668 
    

    
Earnings per share (cents)    
Basic 31 0.031 0.118 
Diluted 31 0.031 0.118 

    
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2017 
 
 

 

Share 

capital 

Accumulated 

losses 

Capital 

reserve 

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

Equity attributable 

to owners of the 

Company 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

Total 

equity 

 (Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25)    

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

Group  (Restated)       
         
At January 1, 2016 (As previously reported) 76,897 (17,517) 481 40,521 5,703 106,085 76 106,161 

Restatements (Note 37) - (612) - - - (612) - (612) 

At January 1, 2016 (Restated) 76,897 (18,129) 481 40,521 5,703 105,473 76 105,549 

Total comprehensive income for the   

year 

Profit for the year (As previously 

reported)     – 4,661 – – - 

 

 

 

4,661 (21) 4,640 

      Restatements (Note 37)     – 1,643 – – - 1,643 - 1,643 

      Profit for the year (Restated)     – 6,304 – – - 6,304 (21) 6,283 

         

Other comprehensive income for the    

year – – – – 1,384 

 

1,384 1 1,385 

Total (Restated) – 6,304 – – 1,384 7,688 (20) 7,668 
         
         
         

Transactions with owners, recognised         

   directly in equity         

Issue of ordinary shares 17,705 – – – – 

 

17,705 – 17,705 

     Dividends paid to a non-controlling 

       shareholder – – – – – 

 

- (79) (79) 

Total 17,705 - – – - 17,705 (79) 17,626 
         
         

Others - - (67) - - (67) - (67) 
         
         
Balance at December 31, 2016 

(Restated) 94,602 (11,825) 414 40,521 7,087 130,799 (23) 130,776 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
Year ended December 31, 2017  
 

 

 

Share 

capital 

Accumulated 

losses 

Capital 

reserve 

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 
translation 

reserve 

 

Equity attributable 
to owners of the 

Company 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 

Total 

equity 

 (Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25)    

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 

Group  (Restated)       
         
At January 1, 2017 (Restated) 94,602 (11,825) 414 40,521 7,087 130,799 (23) 130,776 
         

Total comprehensive income (loss) for 

the year      

 

  

   Profit for the year - 2,050 - - - 2,050 - 2,050 

   Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (5,297) 

 

(5,297) - 

 

(5,297) 
         
         
Total  - 2,050 - - (5,297) (3,247) - (3,247) 
         

Transactions with owners, recognised 

directly in equity      

 

  

 Recognition of equity component of     

convertible bonds issued during the 

year - - 4 - - 

 

4 
- 4 

         
         
Total  - - 4 - - 4 - 4 

         

Others - - - 110 - 110 23 133 
         
Balance at December 31, 2017 94,602 (9,775) 418 40,631 1,790 127,666 -* 127,666 

         

 

 
* Balance less than $1,000. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2017 
 

 
 

 
Share 
capital 

Accumulated 
losses 

Capital 
reserve 

Total  
equity 

 (Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25)  

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     
Company     
     
At January 1, 2016 76,897 (826) (459) 75,612 

     
     

Loss for the year, representing total  

comprehensive loss for the year – (765) – (765) 

     

Transaction with owners, recognised   
directly in equity      

  Issue of ordinary shares 17,705 – – 17,705 
     
     
At December 31, 2016 94,602 (1,591) (459) 92,552 
     
Profit for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year - 2,247 - 2,247 
     

Transaction with owners, recognised     

directly in equity     
  Recognition of equity component of      

convertible bonds issued during the 
year - - 4 4 

     

     

At December 31, 2017 94,602 656 (455) 94,803 
     
     
     
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 
 

        Group 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

   (Restated) 
Operating activities    
Profit before tax  4,904 6,979 
Adjustments for:    

Interest expense  469 681 
Bad debts written off  68 44 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  3,503 1,722 

Loss on fair value of biological assets  1,073 - 
Gain on change in fair value of investment properties  (12,918) (5,381) 
Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net  778 (29) 
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  (575) (66) 
Loss (Gain) on disposal of investment properties  126 (238) 
Foreign exchange adjustments  1,124 (1,580) 

Interest income  (46) (27) 
    
    
Operating cash flows before movement in working capital  (1,494) 2,105 
    
Trade receivables  (335) (4,457) 

  Other receivables and deposits  92 (120) 
  Prepayments  (510) 73 
  Inventories  185 (41) 

  Biological assets  (1,181) 206 

  Development properties  (7,424) (3,526) 
  Trade payables  5,878 (2,006) 
  Other payables and accruals  (2,903) 1,989 
     
    
Cash used in operations  (7,692) (5,777) 
  Interest paid  (469) (681) 
  Income tax (paid) refunded  (90) 139 
  Interest received  46 27 
    
    
Net cash used in operating activities  (8,205) (6,292) 
    
    
    
Investing activities    

Purchase of intangible assets  (11) - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (334) (204) 

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries  351 - 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  290 378 
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  2,218 415 
    
    
Net cash from (used in) investing activities  2,514 589 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 
  
 
 

              Group 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
    
Financing activities    
Advances to non-controlling shareholder  - (16) 
Repayment of bank loans  (3,600) (3,669) 

Repayment for finance leases  (87) (132) 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds  2,000 - 
Payment of dividends to minority shareholders of subsidiaries  - (79) 
Proceeds from issuance of rights shares   - 4,761 
Proceeds from issuance of placement shares  - 8,100 
    
    
Net cash (used in) from financing activities  (1,687) 8,965 
    
    
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (7,378) 3,262 
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held  
   in foreign currencies  12 65 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  6,746 3,419 
    
    
(Overdrawn) Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 (620) 6,746 
    
    
 

 
 
Non-cash transactions: 
 

(1) During the year, the Group took over the crops from a third party which were used to fully offset the 
outstanding receivable amounting to $7,545,000 (Note 7). 
 

(2) During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 

$907,000 (2016 : $1,067,000) of which $573,000 (2016 : $766,000) was acquired under finance 

lease arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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1. GENERAL 

 

The Company (Registration Number 199905292D) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal 

place of business and registered office at 10 Neo Tiew Lane 2, #01-05, D’Kranji Farm Resort, 

Singapore 718813. The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. 

The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars. 

 

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. 

 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements. 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement 

of changes in equity of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017 were authorised for 

issue by the Board of Directors on April 13, 2018. 

 

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Basis of accounting – The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in 

accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Financial Reporting Standards 

in Singapore (“FRSs”).  

 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 

and services. 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 

fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 

liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 

measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 

that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the 

scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 

value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of 

Assets.  

 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 

2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and 

the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as 

follows: 

 

a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the measurement date; 

 

b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 

c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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Adoption of new and revised standards - On January 1, 2017, the Group and the Company 

adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from 

that date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs 

does not result in changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material 

effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years. 

 

 

Changes in accounting policies – Except for the early adoption of FRS 115 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers as discussed below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with 

those of the previous financial year. 

  
 Impact of application of FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

 

In the current year, the Group has early adopted FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

(as amended in April 2016) in advance of its effective date of January 1, 2018. FRS 115 introduces 

a 5-step approach to revenue recognition. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in FRS 

115 to deal with specific scenarios. Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements are described below.  

 

The Group has applied FRS 115 using the practical expedients for completed contracts in FRS 

115.C5(a), and (b), or for modified contracts in FRS 115.C5(c) but using the expedient in FRS 

115.C5(d) allowing both non-disclosure of the amount of the transaction price allocated to the 

remaining performance obligations, and an explanation of when it expects to recognise that amount 

as revenue for all reporting periods presented before the date of initial application, i.e. January 1, 

2017.  

 

FRS 115 uses the terms ‘contract asset’ and ‘contract liability’ to describe what might more 

commonly be known as ‘accrued revenue’ and ‘deferred revenue’, however the Standard does not 

prohibit an entity from using alternative descriptions in the statement of financial position. The Group 

has adopted the terminology used in FRS 115 to describe such balances.  

 

The Group’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed in detail in below. Apart from 

the recognition of the revenue from the sale of the development properties in accordance with the 

percentage of completion method and providing more extensive disclosures on the Group’s revenue 

transactions, the application of FRS 115 has not had a significant impact on the financial position 

and/or financial performance of the Group. The amount of adjustment for each financial statement 

line item affected by the application of FRS 115 for the current and prior years is illustrated below.  
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Impact on profit or loss  

2016  

$’000  

Impact on profit for the year  

Revenue  

Increase due to change in the timing of recognition 

for development properties(1) 

3,439 

Cost of sales  

Increase due to change in the timing of recognition 
for development properties(1)   

1,612 

Income tax expense  

Increase due to due to change in the timing of 
recognition of revenue and cost of sales` 

133 

Increase in profit for the year  1,694  

Increase in earnings per share (in cents)  

 Basic  0.032  

  Diluted  0.032  

 
  

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at December 31, 2016  

 
As previously 

reported  
FRS 115 

adjustments 
Non-FRS 115 
adjustments 

 

As restated  

$’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

Development 

properties(2)   

19,902 (1,612) - 18,290 

Contract 
liability 

(current)(3)   

-  (4,364)  - (4,364)  

Contract 
liability (non-

current)(3)   

(7,803) 7,803 - - 

Provision for 
taxation 

(36) (133) - (169) 

Accumulated 
losses 

(12,856)  1,694  (663) (11,825)  

 
The Group recognises the revenue on the property development based on the percentage of 

completion method under FRS 115 compared to the completion method previously adopted by 
the Group. An adjustment to revenue has therefore been made to reflect the change in 

accounting. A corresponding reduction of the contract liability is also observed as amounts were 
previously deferred.   
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(1)  For property development sale of real estate unit, when an agreement between a developer and 

buyer is reached before the construction of real estate is completed, revenue and related expenses 
are accounted for using the percentage of completion (“POC”) method as the entity continuously 

transfer to the buyer control of the work in progress as construction progresses.  
 

(2)  Property development work in progress consists of costs of construction of residential and commercial 
units. As a consequence of POC recognition of related work in progress, a corresponding adjustment 

to recognize such costs when incurred is accounted in cost of sales.  
 

(3)  In 2016, the deferred income was recorded as non-current. The deferred income relates to the 
amount received from buyer of development properties which has been reclassified as a contract 
liability. The adjustments pertain to the following: 

 
(a) reclassification of $7,803,000 from non-current to current liabilities as revenue was recognised 

based on POC method; and  
(b) recognition of revenue amounting to $3,439,000 for 2016. When POC revenue was recognised, 

the corresponding adjustment is a reduction in contract liability. The resulting current portion of 
the contract liability as at December 31, 2016  is $4,364,000. 

 
 

Basis of consolidation - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 

Company: 

 
• Has power over the investee; 
• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 

there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

 

• The size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 

the other vote holders; 
• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 

current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 
voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings. 
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 

the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with the Group's accounting policies. 

 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 

the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and 

the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 

the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated 

as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value 

of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities 

of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 

of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another 

category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in 

the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under FRS 39, or when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in 

an associate or a joint venture. 

 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any 

impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 

Business combinations - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the 

acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition 

date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at 

the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of 

non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another 

FRS. 
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Financial instruments - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial 

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 

 

Effective interest method 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of 

allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial 

instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective 

interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or 

loss”. 

 

 

Financial assets 

 

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an 

investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 

established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except 

for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair 

value. 

 

Financial assets are mainly classified as “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature 

and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

 

 

Loans and receivables 

 

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables (including trade and 
other receivables, cash and bank balances and short-term deposits) are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest 
method, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
 
Impairment of financial assets 

 

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been impacted. 
 
Objective evidence of impairment could include: 
 

• Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 
• Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 
• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation. 
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For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30 days 

(2016: 0 to 120 days), as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate 
with default on receivables. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. 

 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 
 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 

asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 

Classification as debt or equity 

 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of 
the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
 
 
Equity instruments 

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 
 
 

Financial liabilities 
 
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis. 
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Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Interest expense calculated using the 
effective interest method is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below). 
 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire. 
 
 
Convertible bonds 
 
Convertible bonds are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity 
component. The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities 

and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of issue, the fair 
value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-
convertible instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished 
upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the 
amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is 
recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. 

 

 
Offsetting arrangements 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A 

right to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be 
exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, 
insolvency or bankruptcy. 
 
 
Leases - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

The Group as lessor 
 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s 
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 
 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from 
the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on 
the same basis as the lease income. 
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The Group as lessee 
 
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 

the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless 
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the 

Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred.  

 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 

as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
 
 
Non-current assets held for sale - Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying 

amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This 

condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 
 
When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and 
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, 

regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale. 
 
Non-current assets (and disposal Groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
 
 
Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing 

the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 

 
• Raw materials: purchase costs on a first-in first-out basis. 
 
• Finished goods: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based   

on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a first-in first-out basis. 
 

• Consumables and spare parts: purchase costs and all other costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of these inventories. These costs are assigned on a first-in first-out basis. 

 
Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 
 

 
  



HLH GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2017 

 
 
 

29 

Biological assets - Biological assets relate to immature cassava that have yet to be harvested. 
 

The immature cassava plantation costs consist of field preparation, planting, fertilising and maintenance and 
an allocation of other related costs. In general, a cassava plantation take about ten months to reach maturity 

from the time the seedlings are planted. 
 

Biological assets are measured at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The fair value was determined 
based on the actual selling prices in the local market approximating those at year end and less estimated 

point-of-sale costs. Point-of-sale costs include all costs that would be necessary to sell the assets. 
 

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of plantations at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs and 
from the change in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of plantations at each reporting date are 
included in the profit or loss for the period in which they arise. 
 
 
Development properties - Development properties are properties acquired or being constructed for sale 
in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for the Group’s own use, rental or capital 

appreciation. 
 

Development properties are held as inventories and are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. 

 
Net realisable value of development properties is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, based on market prices at the reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if 

material, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 

The costs of development properties recognised in profit or loss on disposal are determined with reference 
to the specific costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on the 
relative size of the property sold.  
 

 
Property, plant and equipment - Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or 
administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other 
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 
 

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties 
under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 
Leasehold land – Over the lease period of between 

20 to 70 years 
Land use rights – Over the lease period of 50 years 
Leasehold improvements – 10 - 30 years 
Building and structure – 25 years 
Computers – 5 years 
Furniture and fittings and office equipment – 10 years 
Machineries and equipment – 10 - 20 years 

Motor vehicles – 3 - 10 years 
Renovation – 2 - 10 years 
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 

assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset 
shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. 
 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 

as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation 

surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No 
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when an asset is derecognised. 
 
 
Investment properties - Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation, including property under construction for such purposes, are measured initially at its cost, 
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair 

value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit 
or loss for the period in which they arise. 
 
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised. 

 

 

Impairment of tangible assets - At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
Group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 

the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 

reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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Provisions - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from 
a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
 
Revenue – During the year, the Group has early adopted FRS 115. Accordingly, the Group changes its 
accounting policy from completion method to percentage of completion method in current year. Revenue is 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and 
excluding taxes or duty. 

 
(a) Sale of crops 

 

For sale of crops, revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods is transferred 
to the customers depending on the respective incoterms of each sales transaction. 

 

(b) Development of properties 

  

 The Group develops and sells residential and commercial properties under long-term contracts with 
customers. Such contracts are entered into before construction of the residential properties begins. 
Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is contractually restricted from redirecting the properties 
to another customer and has an enforceable right to payment for work done. Revenue from 

development of properties is therefore recognised over time on a cost–to–cost method, i.e. based 
on the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated 
total contract costs. Management considers that this input method is an appropriate measure of the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under FRS 115.  

 
The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for construction of residential properties based on 
achieving a series of performance-related milestones on building completion. When a particular 

milestone is reached the customer is sent a relevant statement of work signed by a third party 
assessor and an invoice for the related milestone payment. The Group will previously have recognised 
a contract asset for any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is 
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone 
payment exceeds, the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost method, then the Group 
recognises a contract liability for the difference. This is not considered to be a significant financing 
component in contracts with customers as the period between the recognition of revenue under the 

cost-to-cost method and the milestone payment is always less than one year. 
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(c)  Rental income 

 

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-

line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to the lessees are 

recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease terms on a straight-line basis. 

 

(d) Interest income 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 

(e) Dividend income 

 

Dividend income is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment is established. 

 
 
Borrowing costs - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation. 

 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
 

Retirement benefit costs - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 

expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions.  Payments made 

to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with 

as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to 

those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. 

 
 
Employee leave entitlement - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 

 

 
Income tax - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not 
taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate 
by the end of the reporting period. 
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Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits 
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 

the asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period. Except for investment properties measured using the fair value model, 
the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that 
are measured using the fair value model the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the 
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group whose business objective 

is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale. The Group has not rebutted the presumption that the carrying amount of the 
investment properties will be recovered entirely through sale. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate 
to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), 
in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. 
In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or 
determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost. 
 
 
Foreign currency transactions and translation - The individual financial statements of each Group entity 
are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 

financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, 
which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. 
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
not retranslated. 
 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items 
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary 

items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest 

costs on those foreign currency borrowings. 
 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during 

that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences 

arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of 
equity under the header of foreign currency translation reserve. 
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control 
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an 

associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that 
operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have 
previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to 
profit or loss. 
 
In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and 

are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled 

entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share 
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign 
currency translation reserve. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
 

 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows - Cash and cash equivalents in the statement 
of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

 

 

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies 

 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that 
management has made in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

 
(a) Revenue recognition 

 

The Group recognises the revenue on the property development based on the percentage of 

completion method under FRS 115 compared to the completion method previously adopted by the 
Group.  
 
In making their judgement, management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of 
revenue set out in FRS 115 and, in particular, whether the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date. 
 

As a result of the early adoption of percentage of completion in accordance with FRS 115, an 
adjustment to revenue and associated costs to fulfil the contract have therefore been made to reflect 
the change in accounting and a corresponding reduction of the contract liability is also observed as 
amounts were previously deferred as set out in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

  
 

(b) Taxes 
 
The Group has exposure to income and other taxes in numerous jurisdictions, including Singapore 
and Cambodia. Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and 
the amount and timing of future taxable income. The Group establishes tax provisions, based on 
reasonable estimates, after assessing the potential tax impact in accordance with prevailing tax 
legislations in the various jurisdictions. This includes those matters in Note 29. 

 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 
which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group's income tax payables and 
deferred tax liabilities as at December 31, 2017 are $180,000 (2016: $36,000) and $16,437,000 
(2016: $14,891,000) respectively.  
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

end of the reporting period are discussed below. 

 

 

(a) Valuation of development properties 
 

Development property of the Group is stated at cost less allowance for impairment in value 
or at the lower of cost and net realisable values, assessed on an individual property basis.  
 
When it is probable that the total project costs will exceed the total projected revenue net 
of selling expenses, i.e. net realisable value, the amount in excess of net realisable value is 
recognised as an expense immediately.  

 

The process of evaluating the net realisable value for each property is subject to 
management’s judgement and the effect of assumptions in respect of development plans, 
timing of sale and the prevailing market conditions. Management performs cost studies for 
each project, taking into account the costs incurred to date, the development status and 
costs to complete each development project. Any future variation in plans, assumptions and 
estimates can potentially impact the carrying amounts of the respective properties. 

 
The carrying amount of the development properties is disclosed in Note 14. 

 
 
(b)  Valuation of biological assets 

   
The Group’s biological assets are stated at fair value less estimated costs to sell, which has 
been estimated by management with the assistance of an independent valuer. 

 

During the valuation process, the Group has made estimates relating to the unit selling price 
of the cassava, the production yield, the planted area and the harvesting cost. 

 
The carrying amount of the Group’s biological assets as at December 31, 2017 is disclosed 
in Note 13 to the financial statements. 

 
 

(c) Fair value of investment properties 

 

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being 
recognised in profit or loss. The Group engaged independent real estate valuation experts 
(“Valuers”) to assess the fair values as at December 31, 2017 and 2016. The valuation 
techniques used by the Valuers comprise the direct comparison approach, depreciated 
replacement cost method and income approach. The key assumptions used to determine the 
fair value of these investment properties and sensitivity analysis are provided in Note 4. 

 
The carrying amount of the investment properties as at December 31, 2017 is disclosed in 
Note 17 to the financial statements. 
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(d) Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) 

 
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for its PPE at each 

reporting date. PPE are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. PPE mainly comprises leasehold land and building, 
machineries and equipment, motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture and fittings in 
Cambodia. 

 

Management has engaged an independent external valuer to determine the recoverable 

amounts of the property, plant and equipment based on the fair value less cost of disposal. 

The determination of fair value less cost of disposal also involves significant assumptions and 

estimates which included, amongst others, condition and usage of the machineries and 

equipment and the estimated cost and time for replacement.  

 

The carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2017 is 
disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements. 

 

 

(e)       Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) 

 

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of 

each reporting period.  Changes in the expected level and future usage can impact the 

economic useful lives of these assets with consequential impact on the future depreciation 

charge.  

 

During the year, the Group has terminated the joint co-operation with the third party for the 

lease of the concession land at Aoral District in Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia. The 

Group recovered the agriculture land and started cultivation of cassava and production of 

cassava starch. Accordingly, the concession land has been reclassified from investment 

properties to property, plant and equipment. The concession land is depreciated over the 

remaining lease term of 62 years. 
  

   

(f)  Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 

 

 Determining whether investments in subsidiaries are impaired requires an estimation of the 

value-in-use of these investments.  The value-in-use calculation requires the Company to 

estimate the future cash flows expected from these investments and a suitable discount rate 

in order to calculate present value. Management has evaluated the recoverability of these 

investments based on such estimates.  The carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries 

is disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements. 
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
(a) Categories of financial instruments 

 
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period: 

 
 

 Group Company 

 December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

January 1, 

2016 

December 31, 

2017 

December, 31, 

2016 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  (Restated) (Restated)   

Financial assets      

Investment securities 2 2 2 - - 

Loans and receivables 

(including cash and 

bank balances) 

 

3,342 

 

15,519 

 

8,983 

 

31,182 

 

99,898 

 

Financial liabilities 

     

Payables at amortised 

cost 

14,549 9,309 23,188 12,353 9,184 

Convertible bonds 1,996 - - 1,996 - 

 
 

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives 

  

The Group and the Company is exposed to financial risks from its operations and the use of 

financial instruments. The key financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and foreign currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for 

the management of these risks, which are executed by the Finance department. The Audit 

Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. 

It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that 

no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. 

 

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. 

 

The following sections provide details regarding the Group's and Company's exposure to the 

abovementioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management 

of these risks. 

 

(i) Interest rate risk management 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group's and the 

Company's financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group's and the Company's exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their 

loans and borrowings and interest-bearing deposits placed with various financial institutions. 

The Group's and the Company's policy are to obtain the most favourable interest rates 

available. 
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Interest rate sensitivity 

 

At the end of the reporting period, if SGD interest rates had been 100 basis points 

lower/higher with all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax would have 

been approximately $52,000 (2016: $62,000) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of 

lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. 

 

(ii) Credit risk management 

 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 

counterparty default on its obligations. The Group's and the Company's exposure to credit 

risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including 

investment securities and cash and bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise 

credit risk by dealing with good credit rating counterparties. 

 

It is the Group's policy that guidelines are in place to ensure that the credit sales are only 

made to customers with appropriate credit standing. 

 

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable financial 

institutions. 

 

Exposure to credit risk 

 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or 
any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties 
as having similar characteristics if they are related entities or if they operate within the same 

industry.  

 

The maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee 
contract in Note 34, if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparty to the 
guarantee is $5,295,000 (2016: $6,313,000). Based on expectations at the end of the 
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be 
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on 

the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the 
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer 
credit losses.  

 

 

Credit risk concentration profile 

 

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country sector profile 

of the Group's trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 

 2017 2016 

 $’000 % $’000 % 

     

Singapore - - 148 1.9 

Cambodia 559 100.0% 7,689 98.1 
     
     
 559 100.0% 7,837 100.0 
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At the end of the reporting period, approximately Nil% (2016: 96.3%) of the Group's trade 

receivables was due from a third party, pertaining to a co-operation agreement entered into 

by a subsidiary for cultivation of cassava. 

 

 

(i) Liquidity risk management 

 

   Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group may have insufficient resources to meet its 

financial liabilities as they fall due.  The Group’s strategy to manage liquidity risk is to ensure 

that the Group has sufficient funds to meet its potential liabilities as they fall due. This 

strategy has not changed from prior periods. 

 

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses 

 

   Non-derivative financial assets 

 

   The Group and the Company’s non-derivative financial assets are receivable within one year 

from the end of the reporting period and are non-interest bearing except as disclosed in Note 

8. 

 

 

   Non-derivative financial liabilities 

 
The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required 
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column 

represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the 
maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability on the 
statement of financial position. 

 Average On     

 effective demand     

 interest or within 1 to 5 Over   

     rate     1 year years 5 years Adjustment* Total 

 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Group       

       

2017       

Trade and other payables - 8,103 - - - 8,103 

Bank loans (Variable rate) 6.52% 3,628 2,060 - (456) 5,232 

Finance lease (fixed rate) 5.25-5.39% 138 1,336 - (260) 1,214 

Convertible bonds 5.00% - 2,208 - (212) 1,996 

  11,869 5,604 - (928) 16,545 

       

2016       

Trade and other payables - 2,333 - - - 2,333 

Bank loans (Variable rate) 6.18% 1,967 4,959 - (735) 6,191 

Finance lease (fixed rate) 5.16% 81 923 - (219) 785 

  4,381 5,882 - (954) 9,309 
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 Average On     

 effective demand     

 interest or within 1 to 5 Over   

     rate     1 year years 5 years Adjustment* Total 

 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Company       

       

2017       

       

Trade and other payables - 12,308 - - - 12,308 

Finance lease (fixed rate) 5.25% 46 - - (1) 45 

Convertible bonds (fixed  

rate) 

5.00%  

- 

 

2,208 

 

- 

 

(212) 

 

1,996 

  12,354 2,208 - (213) 14,349 

       

       

2016       

       

Trade and other payables - 9,088 - - - 9,088 

Finance lease (fixed rate) 5.25% 51 50 - (5) 96 

  9,139 50 - (5) 9,184 

 

 

   * The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the 

instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying 

amount of the financial liability in the statement of financial position. 

 
 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk management 

 

The Group's transactional currency exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases that are 

denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities. 

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in 

foreign operations. The foreign currency risk is largely attached to the exposure of its net 

financial assets denominated in United States dollar. 

 

Currently, the Group, does not hedge against the foreign currency exposure as the cash 

flows from purchases partially offset the cash flows from sales transactions and the time 

between the date of settlement and the date of collections are relatively short. The Group's 

net investments in Cambodia are not hedged as currency positions in United States Dollar 

are considered to be long-term in nature. The remaining exposure is not considered by 

management to be significant. 
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In order to minimise foreign exchange risk, the Group has implemented policies and 

guidelines to facilitate the management of the foreign exchange risk. Whenever practicable, 

the Group will endeavour to match the currency of sales and purchases to minimise the net 

exposure and also to minimise excess foreign currency held by utilising bank facilities to 

bridge the short-term foreign currency needs due to the short-term gap between receivables 

and payables. The choice of invoicing currency will be made such that the Group's total 

currency exposure is minimised.  

 

It is not the Group's policy to take speculative positions in foreign currencies. 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity 

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's profit before tax to a 

reasonably possible change in the USD exchange rates against SGD, with all other variables 

held constant. 

 

 Group Company 

 Profit before tax Profit before tax 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 $’000 $’000 

     

USD - strengthen 5% (2016: 5%) 1,055 2,805 694 724 

USD - weaken 5% (2016: 5%) (1,055) (2,805) (694) (724) 
     

   
 

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities  

 

(a) Fair value hierarchy 

 

The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is 

dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows: 

 

– Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or 

liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date, 

 

– Level 2 - Inputs other that quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and 

 

– Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

 

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its 

entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is 

significant to the entire measurement. 

 
 

(b) Assets measured at fair value 

 

The following table shows an analysis of the assets measured at fair value at the end of the 

reporting period: 
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2017 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets for 

identical 

instruments 

(Level 1) 

Significant 

observable 

inputs other 

than quoted 

prices 

(Level 2) 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

(Level 3) Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     

Held for trading 

   investments (Note 11) 2 - - 2 
     

     
 2016 

     

Held for trading 

  investments (Note 11) 2 – – 2 
     

 

 

Determination of fair values 

 

Held for trading investments (Note 11): Fair values are determined directly by reference to 

the published market bid price of quoted equity instruments at the end of the reporting 

period. 

 

 

(c) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash and 
bank balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals, and amounts due 

to/from subsidiaries approximate their respective fair values due to their relatively 
short-term nature of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of 
financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial 
statements. 

 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in 
the period. 
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(c)  Capital management policies and objectives  

 

The Group manages its capital to ensure entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of 
the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and borrowings. 

 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 

economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 

dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No 

changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended December 

31, 2017 and 2016. 

 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is loans and borrowings divided by total 

capital which include equity attributable to the owners of the Company and non-controlling 

interests. The Group's policy is to maintain gearing ratio below 60%. 

 

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 

  (Restated) 

   

Bank loans (Note 19(a)) 5,232 6,191 

Finance lease liabilities (Note 19(b)) 1,214 785 

 6,446 6,976 
   

   
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 127,666 130,799 

Non-controlling interests - (23) 
   
   
Total equity 127,666 130,776 
   

   
Gearing ratio 5% 5% 
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5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant transactions were entered into by the Group with related parties at terms agreed between 
the parties during the financial year. The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-fee 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving directors and other related parties 
 
 

  Group 
 Note 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
    
    
    
Personnel expenses (i) 232 256 
    
 Interest expense on convertible bonds and loans 

from a director  (ii) 20 130 
    

 

 

(i) Personnel expenses of $352,000 (2016: $256,000) were paid to individuals who are 

close family members of directors. These individuals are occupying managerial 

positions of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

(ii) Interest of $20,000 (2016: $130,000) was paid to a director in relation to the 

convertible bonds issued to a director (2016: personal loans provided by the 

director). 

 

 
 Compensation of key management personnel  
 

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as 
follows: 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 
   

Short term employee benefits 1,353 733 
Central Provident Fund contributions 50 42 

   
   
 1,403 775 
   

   
Comprise amounts paid to:   
Directors of the Company 1,171 717 

Other key management personnel 232 58 
   
   
 1,403 775 
   
     

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee 

having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.  
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6. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

 
 Group Company 
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     
Cash at banks and on hand 1,268 5,968 639 272 
Short-term fixed deposits with 

  financial institutions 753 778 - – 

 2,021 6,746 639 272 

Less: bank overdrafts (Note 19a) (2,641) - -  
          
(Overdrawn) Cash and cash equivalents 

in the statement of cash flows (620) 6,746 639 272 
     
     
     
 
Cash at banks and fixed deposits earn interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates of 0.50% 
(2016: 0.50%) per annum. Fixed deposits are held for varying periods of between 1 to 3 months. 

 
 

7. TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $’000 $’000 

   

Amounts due from contract with customers 556    170 

Outside parties - 7,667 

Amount receivable from the 

 sale of goods 3 - 

 559 7,837 

 
 
The trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ credit term (2016: 

0 to 120 days). They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair 
value on initial recognition. 

 
As at December 31, 2016, 96% of the Group’s trade receivables amounting to $7,545,000 was 
due from a third party pertaining to one of the co-operation agreements entered into by a 
subsidiary for cultivation of cassava. In accordance with the agreement, repayment terms are 
either by way of cash or the equivalent value in crop upon harvest. The amount is non-interest 

bearing and recognised at its contractual value which represent the fair value on initial 
recognition. During the year, the Group terminated the co-operation agreement with the third 
party in view that the party was not able to fulfil the terms of the agreement. The Group took 
over the crops from the third party which were used to fully offset the outstanding receivable. 
 
Included in the Group's trade receivable balances are debtors with a carrying amount of $3,000 
(2016: $7,763,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group 
has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not 
hold any collateral over these balances. 
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In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the 
credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of 
the reporting period. Accordingly, management believes that there is no allowance for doubtful 
debts required. 

 

 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at December 31: 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $’000 $’000 

   

Not past due and not impaired 556 74 

Past due but not impaired (i) 3 7,763 

 559 7,837 

   

   

(i) Aging of receivables that are   

   past due but not impaired   

   1 to 30 days - 398 

   31 to 60 days 1 313 

   >61 days 2 7,052 

   Total 3 7,763 
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8. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS 

 
 Group Company 
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     
Other receivables (net of allowance for 

impairment) 448 727 121 - 

Deposits 274 193 - – 

Current portion of other receivables and 

deposits 722 920 121 - 
          
Non-current deposits 40 - - - 

 762 920 121 - 

     
The Group's other receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Other receivables - 3 

Less: Allowance for impairment (Note i) - (3) 
   
   
 - – 
   
   
   
 
Note (i): Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the 

reporting period relate to a debtor that has defaulted on payments. 

 

 

9. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES 

 Company 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Due from subsidiaries   
- trade - 11,998 

- non-trade 30,422 90,325 
   
   
 30,422 102,323 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts - (2,697) 
   
   
 30,422 99,626 
   
   
   
Due to subsidiaries   
- non-trade (11,846) (8,594) 
   
   
   
The balances due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are 
to be settled in cash. Included in amount due from subsidiaries is an amount of $10,624,000 (2016: 
$81,490,000) due from key subsidiaries in the agriculture division. During the year, the Company 
reclassified $76,160,000 of amount due from a subsidiary, net of allowance for doubtful debts, to 

investment as this amount is not likely to be settled in the foreseeable future.  
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10. ADVANCES TO A NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER 
 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Advances to a non-controlling shareholder   
  - non-trade - 16 
   
   
   
Non-trade advances to a non-controlling shareholder are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand in cash. 

 
 
 

11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

 

 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Held for trading investments   
   
  - equity instruments (quoted) 2 2 
   
   
 

 

12. INVENTORIES 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   
   
   
Raw materials 3 46 

Consumables 122 176 
Machineries and spare parts 318 349 
Finished goods 53 116 
   
   
 496 687 
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13. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   

At beginning of year – 206 
Transfer from a third party 7,545 – 
Additions* 1,181 - 
Decreases due to harvest** - (206) 
Loss on fair value of biological assets (1,073) - 
Exchange differences (303) - 
   
   
At end of year 7,350 – 
   
   
   
 
* These are additions to cassava during the year. 
**  These are decrease in sugar cane plantations in 2016. 
 
The fair values of cassava and sugarcane have been determined based on the estimate of selling 
prices less estimated point-of-sale costs. Point-of-sale costs include all costs that would be necessary 
to sell the assets. 
 
 

 

Quoted prices in 

active markets 

for identical 

instruments 

(Level 1) 

Significant 

observable 

inputs other than 

quoted prices 

(Level 2) 

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs 

(Level 3) Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     
At December 31, 2017 - - 7,350 7,350 
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Description 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 2017 

($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-relationship 

between key 

unobservable inputs 

and fair value 

measurement 

 

     

Biological assets 

 

7,350 

(2016: 

Nil) 

Income approach   Selling prices of 

comparable sales less 

costs to harvest: 

$57 (2016: $Nil) 

 

The estimated fair value 

increases with higher 

comparable selling 

prices, production yield 

and cultivation area. 

     Production yield: 

  25 ton/ hectare 

 

     

     Cultivation area: 

  4,000 hectares 
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14. DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES 

 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
  (Restated) 
   
Freehold land 12,391 12,583 
Development costs 13,323 5,707 

 25,714 18,290 
Reclassified to investment properties (Note 17) (10,616) - 

 15,098 18,290 

 
 

 
 
 

Description and location 

 
 
 

% owned 

 
Site area 
(square 
metre) 

 
Gross floor 

area (square 
metre) 

Stage of completion 
as at end of 

reporting period 
(expected year of 

completion) 
    $’000 

 
Land in Preah Sihanouk 
Province, Cambodia 

100% 9,818  92,566 35% (2019) 
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During the year, the Group reclassified a plot of land in Preah Sihanouk Province, Cambodia from 

development properties to investment properties as management decided to hold the land either 

for capital appreciation or for rent. There is no construction plan for the land and the land remains 

vacant as at the end of the reporting period. 

 

 

15. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
 

 
On November 9, 2017, management resolved to dispose one of the Group’s investment properties 

to an outside party. The Group has entered into a sales and purchase agreement during the year 
and as at December 31, 2017, the application for the transfer of the title deed is in progress and 
the sale of the asset is likely to be completed within the following twelve months. The Group has 
received partial payment on the property. 
 
The proceeds of disposal less costs of sales are expected to approximate the fair value of the relevant 

asset classified as held for sale. 
 

The assets held for sale by the Group as at December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

 

 

 

Description and 

 location 

 

 

Existing 

use 

 

 

 

Tenure 

 

 

Land  

area 

Fair value as 

at  

December 31, 

2017 

($’000) 

 

 
 

Land, buildings and infrastructure at Prek Village, 

Amleang Commune, Thpong District, Kampong 

Speu Province, Cambodia – held for sale 

 

Agriculture 

land 

Freehold 450  

hectares 

2,807 
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 
  

Group 

Lease- 
hold 
land 

Land 
use 

rights 

Leasehold 
improve- 

ments 

Building 
and 

structure 

Construct- 
ion-in- 

progress Computers 

Furniture 
and 

fittings 

Machineries 
and 

equipment 
Motor 

vehicles(a) 
Office 

equipment 
Reno- 
vation 

Freehold 
   Land Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
              
Cost              
As at January 1, 

2016 – 1,245 2,228 718 2,905 81 109 18,743 1,567 117 107 – 27,820 
              
Additions – – – – 377 11 12 274 329 12 52 – 1,067 
Reclassified to 

investment 
properties (b) – – – – –  – – (706) – – – – (706)  

Reclassified from 
investment 
properties(c) – – 19,846 – –  – – - – – – – 19,846 

Transfers – – – – (3,222) – – 3,222 – – – – – 
Write-offs – – – – – – – (625) (3) – – – (628) 
Disposal – – – – – – – (508) (483) – – – (991) 
Translation 

differences – (55) 921 (32) (60) 1 2 472 21 3 3 - 1,276 
              
As at December, 31 

2016 – 1,190 22,995 686 – 93 123 20,872 1,431 132 162 - 47,684 

Reclassification 20,743 (1,190) (19,553) - – - - - – - - – - 
Additions – – 121 20 – 27 1 257 473 1 7 – 907 
Reclassified from 

investment 
properties(b)(d) 62,008 – – 3,508 – – – 706 – – – 1,673 67,895 

Disposals – – (1,670) (686) – (5) (10) (1,091) (541) (10) (30) – (4,043) 
Translation 

differences (3,726) – (151) (123) – (3) (11) (1,593) (63) (8) (51) (58) (5,787) 
              
              
As at December 31, 

2017 79,025 – 1,742 3,405 – 112 103 19,151 1,300 115 88 1,615 106,656 
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Group 

Lease- 
hold 
land 

Land 
use 

rights 

Leasehold 
improve- 

ments 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Construct- 
ion-in- 

progress Computers 

Furniture 
and 

fittings 

Machineries 
and 

equipment 
Motor 

vehicles(a) 
Office 

equipment 
Reno- 
vation 

Freehold 
Land Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
              
Accumulated 
  depreciation              
As at January 1, 2016 – 1,245 212 718 – 32 56 8,707 791 57 13 – 11,831 
              
Charge for the year  – – 105 – – 13 10 1,348 217 16 13 – 1,722 
Reclassified to investment 

properties (b) – – – – – – – (319) – – – – (319) 
Disposals – – – – – – – (370) (272) – – – (642) 
Write-offs – – – – – – – (625) (3) – – – (628) 
Translation differences – (55) 9 (32) – (1) 1 163 14 1 1 – 101 

            –  
As at December 31, 2016 – 1,190 326 686 – 44 67 8,904 747 74 27 – 12,065 
Reclassification 1,190 (1,190) – - – - - - – - - - - 
Charge for the year  990 - 107 203 - 15 15 1,949 195 13 16 - 3,503 
Disposals (1,188) - (58) (686) - (4) (8) (554) (462) (10) (5) - (2,975) 
Translation differences (35) - (26) (7) - – (7) (726) (29) (4) (11) - (845) 
              
              
As at December 31, 2017 957 - 349 196 - 55 67 9,573 451 73 27 - 11,748 

              
              
Carrying amount              
As at December 31, 2017 78,068 - 1,393 3,209 - 57 36 9,578 849 42 61 1,615 94,908 
              

              
As at December 31, 2016 – – 22,669 – – 49 56 11,968 684 58 135 – 35,619 
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 Computers 
Furniture 

and fittings 
Motor 
vehicle 

Office 
equipment Renovation Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Company       
       
Cost       
As at January 1, 2016 50 11 151 25 12 249 
Additions – – 192 – 1 193 
Disposals – – (151) – – (151) 
       
       
As at December 31, 2016  50 11 192 25 13 291 
Additions 9 - - - - 9 
       
       
As at December 31, 2017 59 11 192 25 13 300 
       
       
Accumulated depreciation       

As at January 1, 2016 23 10 151 13 9 206 
       
Charge for the year 10 1 3 4 2 20 

Disposals – – (151) – – (151) 
       
As at December 31, 2016 33 11 3 17 11 75 
Charge for the year 11 - 38 4 1 54 
       
       
As at December 31, 2017 44 11 41 21 12 129 
       
        
Carrying amount       
As at December 31, 2017 15 - 151 4 1 171 
       

       
As at December 31, 2016 17 – 189 8 2 216 
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(a) Assets held under finance leases 

 

The Group and Company have property, plant and equipment under finance leases (Note 

19(b)) with net carrying amounts of $78,068,000 (2016: $Nil) and $$151,000 (2016: 

$189,000) respectively. The motor vehicles under lease arrangement are pledged as security 

for the related finance lease liabilities. 

 

(b)  Reclassification of machineries and equipment to investment properties in prior year 

 

In 2016, the Group reclassified certain machineries and equipment, with total carrying 

amount of $387,000 from property, plant and equipment to investment properties. These 

items were included in a lease agreement with a third party, under one of the co-operation 

agreements entered into by a subsidiary in March 2016 for cultivation of cassava as disclosed 

in Note 33. 

 

In accordance with FRS 40 Investment Property, the machineries and equipment were valued 

to their estimated fair values on March 1, 2016 upon reclassification to investment 

properties. As the revaluation gains were not significant, there were no revaluation gains 

recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of these machineries and equipment 

in the prior year. 

 

During the year, the Group terminated the lease arrangement with the third party and 

recovered the machineries and equipment from the third party. These machineries and 

equipment were reclassified from investment properties back to property, plant and 

equipment at the fair value at date of transfer. 

 

(c) Reclassification of leasehold improvements from investment properties in prior year 

 

The Group’s 9,985 hectares of farmland plantation at Aoral District in Kampong Speu 

Province, Cambodia has been classified as investment properties since the inception of the 

co-operation agreement with Zhong Fu International Investment (Cambodia) Ltd (“Zhong 

Fu”) in 2014. In October 2016, the Group changed its mode of operations for approximately 

2,400 hectares of this farmland, from co-operating with Zhong Fu for the cultivation of crop 

to directly planting crop.  

 

(d)  Reclassification of property from investment properties in current year 

 

Further in April 2017, the joint co-operation with Zhong Fu was terminated and the Group 

took over the remaining hectares of the farmland and commenced its own cassava 

plantation. The Group also took over certain plant and equipment which were previously 

under the lease arrangement with Zhong Fu. In accordance with FRS 40 Investment 

Property, these property, plant and equipment have been reclassified to property, plant and 

equipment with its fair value at the date of change in use being the deemed cost for 

subsequent accounting and depreciation in accordance with FRS 16 Property, Plant and 

Equipment.  
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 
 Group Company 
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     
     
At beginning of year 89,448 102,389 618 276 
Reclassified to property,  

   plant and equipment (net) (67,895) (19,459) - – 
Reclassified from development property 

(Note 14) 10,616 - - - 
Reclassified to assets held for sale  
  (Note 15) (2,807) - - - 
Disposed during the year (2,344) (177) - – 
Net gains from fair value 
   adjustments recognised in 
   profit or loss (Note 27) 12,918 5,381 - 342 

Exchange differences (2,056) 1,314 (1) – 
     
     
At end of year 37,880 89,448 617 618 
     
     
     

 

These include the following related to investment properties classified under Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy: 
 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

 

 

 
 
The Group's investment properties are held under freehold and leasehold interests. 

 
 

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties 
 
The fair values of the Group's investment property at December 31, 2017 and 2016 have been 
determined on the basis of valuations carried out at the respective year end dates by independent 

valuers having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the 
location and category of the properties being valued, and not related to the Group. In estimating the 
fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There has 
been no change to the valuation technique during the year. 
 
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 and into or out of Level 3 during the year. 
  

The property rental income from the Group's investment properties all of which are leased out under 
operating leases, amounted to $1,085,000 (2016: $1,037,000). Direct operating expenses (including 
repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental-generating investment properties amounted to 
$300,000 (2016: $300,000).  

Gain from fair value adjustments included 

in profit or loss (net) 12,918 5,381 - 342 
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The investment properties held by the Group as at December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Description and 

  location 

Existing 

use Tenure 

Land 

area 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and fair 

value 

measurement     

        

(a) Land at Kmougne Village, Kmougne 

Commune, Sean Sock District, Phnom Penh 

City, Cambodia,  

Plot no: 1157  

(20% interest owned by the Group) 

 

Vacant 

land 

Freehold 6,667 m2 618 

(2016: 

618) 

Direct 

comparison 

method 

  Adjustment 

factors for 

transacted 

price of 

comparable 

properties 

(sqm): 

 

$314 to $799 

(2016: $374 to 

$900) 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

comparable 

prices.  
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Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

area  

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and fair 

value 

measurement 

        

(b) Land at Tropaing Chheu Neang Village, Peuk 
Commune, Ang Snoul District, Kandal 
Province, Cambodia  

 
 
 
 
 
 

   

 

      Factory and warehouse at Tropaing Chheu 

Neang Village, Peuk Commune, Ang Snoul 

District, Kandal Province, Cambodia 

 

Industrial 

land 

Freehold 8,499 m2 

 (2016: 

18,051 m2) 

 

1,270 

(2016: 

3,638) 

Direct 
comparison 
method 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Depreciated 
replacement 
cost method 

 

 Adjustment 
factors for: 

   
 Transacted 
price of 
comparable 
properties 
(sqm): 
$55 to $125 
(2016: $55 to 
$125) 

 
  Market price 
  (sqm): 
$97 to $180 
(2016: $97 to 
$180) 

 

The estimated 
fair value 
increases with 
higher 
comparable 
prices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

construction 

costs. 
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Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

Area 

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and 

fair value 

measurement 

 

        

(c) Land at 10 Neo Tiew Lane 2, D’Kranji 

Farm Resort, #01-05, Singapore 718813 

Farm 

resort 

Leasehold  

(20 years 

from May 9, 

2007) 

50,969 m2 10,600 

(2016: 

10,600) 

Income 

approach 

 Capitalisation   

yield: 4% 

(2016: 

 4%) 

The estimated 

fair value 

varies inversely 

against the 

capitalisation 

yield. 
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Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

 ($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and 

fair value 

measurement 

 

        

(d) Land at Phum 1, Sangkat Iek 3, Khan 

Mittapheap Preah Sihanouk Province, 

Cambodia – reclassed from development 

properties 

Vacant 

land 

Freehold 22,065 m2 25,392 

(2016:  

$Nil) 

Direct 

comparison 

method 

 

 Adjustment 

factors for 

transacted 

price of 

comparable 

properties 

(sqm): 

 

$1,270 to 

$2,673 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

comparable 

prices. 
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Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

Area 

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

 ($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and fair 

value 

measurement 

        

(e) Land at Prek Village, Amleang Commune, 

Thpong District, Kampong Speu Province, 

Cambodia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Buildings and infrastructure at Prek Village, 

Amleang Commune, Thpong District, Kampong 

Speu Province, Cambodia 

 

Reclassified 

from 

investment 

properties to 

assets 

classified as 

held for sale 

(Note 15) 

Freehold 450 

hectares 

$Nil  

(2016:  

5,334) 

Direct 

comparison 

method 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

method 

 

 Adjustment 

factors for 

transacted price 

of comparable 

properties 

(sqm): 

 

$Nil 

(2016: $0.46 to 

$1.38) 

 

 Market price 

 (sqm): 

 

$Nil 

(2016: $83 to 

$180) 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

comparable 

prices. 

 

 

 

 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

construction 

costs. 

 

 

  



HLH GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2017 

 
 
 

64 

 

 

 

 

Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

Area 

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

 ($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and fair 

value 

measurement 

        

(f)  Land at Aoral District in Kampong Speu 

Province, Cambodia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Buildings and infrastructure at Aoral District in 

Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia 

 

Reclassified 

from 

investment 

properties to 

property, 

plant and 

equipment 

(Note 16(c)) 

70 years 

concession 

7,585 

hectares 

$Nil  

(2016: 

69,264) 

 

 

Direct 

comparison 

method 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

method 

 

 Adjustment 

factors for 

transacted price 

of comparable 

properties 

(sqm): 

 

$Nil 

(2016: $0.46 to 

$0.97) 

 

 

Market price 

  (sqm): 

 

$Nil 

(2016: $83 to 

$235) 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

comparable 

prices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

construction 

costs. 
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Description and 

Location 

 

Existing 

Use 

 

Tenure 

 

Land 

Area 

 

 

 

 

Fair value 

as at 

December 31, 

2017 

 ($’000) 

 

 

 

 

 

Valuation 

techniques 

 

 

 

 

Key 

unobservable 

inputs 

Inter-

relationship 

between key 

unobservable 

inputs and fair 

value 

measurement 

        

(g) Land at Tropiang Cho Commune, Aoral District in 

Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia 

Reclassified 

from 

investment 

properties to 

property, 

plant and 

equipment 

(Note 16(d)) 

Freehold 403 

hectares 

$Nil  

(2016:  

1,747) 

Direct 

comparison 

method 

 

 Adjustment 

factors for 

transacted price 

of comparable 

properties 

(sqm): 

 

 $Nil 

(2016: $0.28 to 

0.73) 

 

The estimated 

fair value 

increases with 

higher 

comparable 

prices. 
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The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop 

investment properties or for repair, maintenance or enhancements, except for: 

 

– A legal mortgage provided to a bank, over the freehold land in (b) above 

 

– A first mortgage provided to a bank over the leasehold property in (c) above  

 

These mortgages are provided in respect of the Group’s loans and borrowings. Details of these loans and borrowings are disclosed in Note 19(a). 
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Valuation of investment properties 

 

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which have been determined based on valuations 

performed as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 by independent real estate valuation experts with 

recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.  

 

The Group’s investment properties are classified into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the fair 

value measurement of these investment properties are based on significant unobservable inputs. 

 

For all investment properties, a significant increase (decrease) in the significant unobservable inputs 

would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement. 

 

 

Valuation policies and procedures 

 

It is the Group’s policy to engage external valuation experts to perform the valuation. Management 

is responsible for selecting and engaging valuation experts that possess the relevant credentials and 

knowledge on the subject of valuation, valuation methodologies and FRS 113 Fair Value 

Measurement guidance. 

 

The Group revalues its properties and the valuation techniques used are as follows: 

 

(i) Direct comparison approach that considers the sales of similar properties that have been 

transacted in the open market with adjustment made for differences in elements of 

comparison that affect value. 

 

(ii) Depreciated replacement cost method that is based on estimated gross replacement cost of 

similar properties, less allowances for physical deterioration, obsolescence and optimisation. 

 

(iii) Income approach that takes into account the annual net income of the property which is 

then capitalised at an appropriate rate of return to arrive at the market value. 
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18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 

 

(a) Investment in subsidiaries comprises: 

 

 Company 

 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 23,969 23,969 
Loans to subsidiaries 76,160 - 
Less: Impairment losses (22,969) (22,969) 
   
   
 77,160 1,000 
   
   
   

 Movement in impairment loss: 

   

At beginning and end of year 22,969 22,969 

 
   

The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free. The settlement of the amounts 
are neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. As the amounts are, in 

substance, a part of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiaries, they are stated at 
cost less impairment losses. 

 

 
Details of the Group’s significant subsidiaries at December 31, 2017 are as follows: 
 

Name  
Principal 
activities  

Country of 
incorporation and 
place of business  

Proportion of 
ownership interest 
and voting power 

held  
      2017  2016  

      %  %  
Held by the Company          

          

Hong Lai Huat 
International Pte Ltd * 

 Investment holding  Singapore  100  100  

          

HLH Agri International Pte 
Ltd * 

 Investment holding  Singapore  100  100  

          
HLH Development Pte Ltd *  Investment holding  Singapore  100  100  
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Name  Principal activities  

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business  

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 

power held 

      2017  2016 
      %  % 
         
Held by HLH Agri  

International Pte Ltd 

        

         

HLH Agri R&D Pte Ltd*  Agricultural 
research and 
experimentation  

 Singapore  100  100 

         
HLH Global Trading Pte Ltd *  Dormant  Singapore  100  100 

         
Tieling HLH Agri Processing 

Co. Ltd (China) @(ii) 

 Dormant  China  -  85 

         
HLHI (Cambodia) Company 
Limited **(i) 

 Investment holding, 
property 
investment 

 Cambodia  49  49 

         

HLH Agriculture (Cambodia) 
Co.Ltd **  

 Agriculture 
plantation, 
processing and 
distribution 

 Cambodia  100  100 

 

 

Held by HLH Agri 

International Pte Ltd  

        

         

HLHS (Cambodia) 

Co. Ltd ^@ 

 Dormant  Cambodia  70  70 

         

         

Held by HLH Development 

Pte Ltd 

        

         

Hong Lai Huat Development 

(Cambodia) Limited (i) @ 

 Property 

development and 

real estate 

 Cambodia  49  49 

         

         

Held by Hong Lai Huat 

International Pte Ltd 

        

         

Public Housing Development 

(Cambodia) Limited @ (i)  

 Investment holding, 

property investment 

 Cambodia  49  49 

         

PH One Development 

(Cambodia) Limited ** (i) 

 Property 

development and 

real estate 

 Cambodia  49  49 
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Name  Principal activities  

Country of 
incorporation and 
place of business  

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting power held 
          2017            2016 

            %                  % 

         

PH Two Development 

(Cambodia) Limited @ (i) (ii) 

 Property 

development and 

real estate 

 

 Cambodia  -  49 

         

New Building Products 

(Cambodia) Ltd @ (i) (ii) 

 Import/export of 

construction 

materials 

 Cambodia  -  49 

         

 
* Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore. 
 
** Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited. 
 

@ Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation. 
 

^ Not material to the Group and not required to be disclosed under SGX Listing Rule 717. 
 
(i) A director of the Company holds the remaining 51% interest in these subsidiaries, in trust for 

the Group, pursuant to deeds of trust agreement between the director and the companies in the 
Group. Accordingly, 100% interests of these subsidiaries have been consolidated in the Group’s 

financial statements. 
 
(ii)  Disposed during the year (Note 32). 

 

 

The non-controlling interests of Tieling HLH Agri Processing Co. Ltd (China) and HLHS (Cambodia)  

Co. Ltd are not material to the financial statements of the Group.  
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Composition of the Group 

Information about the composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 

 

Principal activity 

Place of incorporation and 

operation 

 

Number of wholly-owned 

subsidiaries held by the 

Company 

  December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

 

Investment holding, property 

investment 

 

 

Singapore  

Cambodia 

 

3 

2 

 

3 

2 

Agricultural research and 

experimentation, agriculture 

plantation, processing and 

distribution 

 

Singapore 

Cambodia 

 

1 

1 

1 

1 

Property development and real 

estate 

Cambodia 

 

2 3 

    

Import/ export of construction 

materials 

Cambodia 

 

- 1 

    

Dormant Singapore 1 1 

  10 12 
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19. BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFT AND FINANCE LEASES 

 

(a) BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT 

 Year of maturity Group 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
Current:    
    
Bank loans:    

SGD bank loan 1 at base rate –  

   0.6% p.a. (a) 2021 660 629 
USD bank loan 1 at base rate +  
   1.75% p.a. (b) 2020 - 205 
USD bank loan 2 at base rate +  
   4.25% p.a. (c) 2018 - 872 
USD bank overdraft at base rate + 

2.0% p.a. (d) - 2,641 - 
    
    
  3,301 1,706 
    
    
Non-current:    

Bank loans:    
SGD bank loan 1 at base rate –  
   0.6% p.a. (a) 2021 1,931 2,591 

USD bank loan 1 at base rate +  
   1.75% p.a. (b) 2020 - 574 
USD bank loan 2 at base rate +  

   4.25% p.a. (c) 2018 - 1,320 
    
    
  1,931 4,485 
    
    
Total loans and borrowings  5,232 6,191 
    
    
    
 
* Base rate refers to the respective banks’ internal cost of funds. 
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  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

 

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 

both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities. 

       

   Non-cash changes   

  

 

January 1, 

2017 

 

 

Financing 

cash flow 

(i) 

  

Increase in 

finance 

lease  

(ii) 

Equity 

component of 

convertible 

bonds 

 

Foreign 

exchange 

movement 

 

 

December 

31, 2017 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

Overdraft (Note 19a) - 2,641 - - - 2,641 

Bank loans (Note 19a) 6,191 (3,600) - - - 2,591 

Finance leases (Note 19b) 785 (87) 573 - (57) 1,214 

Convertible bonds (Note 22) - 2,000 - (4) - 1,996 

 6,976 954 573 (4) (57) 8,442 

       

 

(i) The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds from bank loans, overdraft and 

repayments of loans in the statement of cash flows. 

(ii) The increase in finance lease includes new leases entered and the interest portion of the 

outstanding finance lease. 

 
 

(a) SGD bank loan at base rate - 0.6% p.a. 
 
This loan is secured by a first mortgage over the Group’s investment property at 10 Neo 
Tiew Lane 2 (Note 17) and corporate guarantee by the Company. The loan bears interest at 
4.75% (2016: 4.5%) per annum, during the year. It is repayable in 72 equal instalments 
and will be fully repaid in September 2021, in accordance with the terms of the loan 
agreement. 
 

(b) USD bank loan 1 at base rate + 1.75% p.a. 

 

The loan is secured by a legal charge over the Group’s investment property at Tropaing 

Chheu Neang Village (Note 17) and corporate guarantee by the Company. The loan bears 

interest at 8% (2016: 8%) per annum during the year. It was fully repaid in October 2017. 

 

(c) USD bank loan 2 at base rate + 4.25% p.a. 

 

This loan is secured by way of the following: 

 

– charge and assignment over all bank accounts of two subsidiaries; 

 

– assignment of all receivables of two subsidiaries; 

 

– charge over all ordinary shares of a subsidiary; 
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– legal mortgage over freehold land of a subsidiary at Prek Village, Amleang Commune 

[Note 15]; 

 

– charge over specified lists of vehicles, machineries and equipment of two 

subsidiaries; and 

 

– assignment of interests in insurance policies of two subsidiaries. 

 

The loan is repayable over a 3-year period and bears interest at at 6.8% (2016: 6.1% to 

6.4%) per annum.  It was fully repaid on 30 November 2017. 

 

(d) Bank overdrafts at base + 2.0% p.a. 

 

The bank overdrafts is secured by a legal charge over vacant development land at Preah 

Sihanouk Province and corporate guarantee by the Company. It bears interest at 8.25% per 

annum and is repayable on demand. 
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19. (b) FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES 

 

  Group  

   Present value 

 Minimum 

lease payments 

of minimum 

lease payments  

 December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

January 1,  

2016 

December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

January 1, 

2016 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  (Restated) (Restated)  (Restated) (Restated) 

Amounts payable under finance 

leases: 

      

Within one year 138 81 90 122 77 84 

In the second to fifth years 

inclusive 

 

1,336 

 

923 

 

883 

 

1,092 

 

708 

 

691 

 1,474 1,004 973 1,214 785 775 

Less:  Future finance charges (260) (219) (198) N/A N/A N/A 

Present value of lease obligations 1,214 785 775 1,214 785 775 

       

Less:  Amount due for settlement 

within 

      

            12 months (shown under       

            current liabilities)    (122) (77) (84) 

Amount due for settlement after 12 

months 

   1,092 708 691 
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 Company 

  Present value 

 Minimum of minimum 

 lease payments lease payments 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Amounts payable under finance leases:     

Within one year 46 51 45 51 

In the second to fifth years inclusive - 50 - 45 

 46 101   

Less:  Future finance charges (1) (5) N/A N/A 

Present value of lease obligations 45 96 45 96 

     

Less:  Amount due for settlement within     

            12 months (shown under     

            current liabilities)   (45) (51) 

Amount due for settlement after 12 months   - 45 

 

 

The Group has finance leases for motor vehicles (Note 16). The leases have remaining term of 

approximately 1 to 2 years. The lease agreements do not have terms of renewal and purchase options. 

The effective interest rates for the finance leases range from 5.25% to 5.39% (2016: 4.35% to 5.25%) 

per annum.  

 

In addition, the Group has finance leases for the 70 years’ concession leasehold land at Aoral District 

in Kampng Speu Province, Cambodia (Note 17(f)). The lease has remaining unexpired term of 62 

years. The effective interest rate for the finance lease is 9% (2016: 9%). 

 

Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent 

rental payments. 

 



 

 

Obligations under finance leases 

 

These obligations are secured by a charge over the leased assets (Note 16). The average discount 

rate implicit in the leases is 7.55% per annum (2016: 4.80% per annum). These obligations are 

denominated in Singapore dollars. 

  

20. TRADE PAYABLES 

 

These amounts are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 60-days' terms.  

 
 
21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

 

 Group Company 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

  (Restated)   

Current:     

Other payables 266 388 20 118 

Deposits received 1,379 309 2 – 

Contract liability 317 4,364 - - 

Accrued operating expenses 501 486 440 376 
     
     
Total other payables and accruals 2,463 5,547 462 494 
     
     

 

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand in cash. 

 

 

22. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 
 
On January, 18, 2017, the Group issued convertible bonds of $4.0 million to the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Group. The convertible bonds bear interest at the rate of 5 per cent per annum and is 
convertible at the option of the holder of the Convertible Bonds, at any time commencing from the 
date falling after 12 months from the issue date of the Convertible Bonds to three years from the 
issue date of the Convertible Bonds.  

 
On August 2017, $1.0 million of the $4.0 million convertible bonds was subscribed with maturity 
date being January 18, 2020. The subscribed bonds were then transferred to a third party on the 
same day. 
 
Further on December 21, 2017, another $1.0 million of the $4.0 million convertible bonds was 

subscribed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, with maturity date being January 18, 2020.  

 
The convertible bonds can be converted into new shares based on fixed conversion price of $0.01 
per share, subject to adjustments determined by the Board, in the events of rights, bonus, 
consolidation or other capitalisation issues. There has been no early redemption of the convertible 
bonds. 
 

The net proceeds from the issue of the Bonds have been split between the liability element and an 
equity component. 

 

 

23. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

 

As disclosed in Notes 16 and 17, the Group recognised a gain on revaluation of land and buildings 

and a gain on change in fair value of investment properties during the current and prior financial 

years. The deferred tax liabilities as at December 31, therefore relate to the following: 

 



 

 

  

Revaluation of land 

and building  

Gain on change in fair 

value of investment 

properties 

 

 

Total 

  

$’000 

  

$’000 $’000 

Group       

       

At January 1, 2016  11,275     2,815 14,090 
       
       
Charge to profit or loss for 

the year  
- 

  
557 557 

Exchange differences  229  
 

15 
 

244 
       
       

At December 31, 2016  
11,504 

  
3,387 14,891 

       
Charge to profit or loss for 

the year  
- 

  
2,584 2,584 

Exchange differences  (893)  
 

(145) 
 

(1,038) 

   

 

10,611  5,826 

 

16,437 
       
       
       

 

The Group has tax losses of approximately $41,853,000 (2016: $47,402,000) that are available for 

offset against future taxable profits of the Group for which deferred tax assets amounting to 

approximately $8,371,000 (2016: $8,972,000) are not recognised due to uncertainty of the 

recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of tax authorities and 

compliance with the relevant provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the 

companies operate.  

 

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with 
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized is 
$2.0 million (2016: $585,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences 

because the group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

  



 

 

 

24. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
 Group and Company 
 2017 2016 

 

No. of 
ordinary 
shares $'000 

No. of 
ordinary 
shares $'000 

     
Issued and paid-up     
At beginning of year 6,658,068,582 94,602 3,957,211,329 76,897 
Issue of ordinary shares - - 2,700,857,253 17,705 
     
     
At end of year 6,658,068,582 94,602 6,658,068,582 94,602 
     
     
     
 
In 2016, the Company issued 2,700,857,253 ordinary shares for $17,705,000. 
 
Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends 
as and when declared by the Company. 
 
 
 

  



 

 

25. RESERVES 
 
 Group  Company 

 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
January 1, 

2016 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000 
  (Restated) (Restated)   
      
(Accumulated losses) 

Retained earnings (9,775) (11,825) 
 

(18,129) 656 (1,591) 
Capital reserve (Note 

(i)) 418 414 
 

481 (455) (459) 
Asset revaluation 

reserve (Note (ii)) 40,631 40,521 
 

40,521 - – 
Foreign currency 

translation 
   reserve (Note (iii)) 1,790 7,087 

 
 

5,703 - – 
      
      
 33,064 36,197 28,576 201 (2,050) 
      
      

 
 

Note (i) 
 
Capital reserve of the Group and the Company relates to adjustment on share capital issued in 
relation to the settlement of certain debts of the Group and the Company and net reserve on 
consolidation taken directly to shareholders' interests in accordance with the Group's accounting 
policy. The balance is not available for distribution as dividends in any form. 
 
Note (ii) 
 
The asset revaluation reserve represents revaluation of land and buildings, net of deferred tax 
liabilities, and decreases to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

Note (iii) 

 

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that 

of the Group's presentation currency and the translation of monetary items that form part of the 

Group's net investment in foreign operations. 

 

  



 

 

26. REVENUE 

 

Disaggregation of revenue  

 

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in 

time in the following major product lines. This is consistent with the revenue information that is 

disclosed for each reportable segment under FRS 108 (see Note 35):  

 

 

 Group 

                                                                  Location 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 

  (Restated) 

   

Sale of crops                                                Cambodia 2,740 683 

Income from co-operation agreements           Cambodia -  5,185 

Rental income from lease of resort                 Singapore 1,085 1,037 

Sale of development of properties                  Cambodia 8,775 3,439 

   
   
 12,600 10,344 
   

 

Timing of revenue recognition 

(i) At a point in time 

 

Sale of crops   2,740 683 

Income from co-operation agreements - 5,185 

Rental income from lease of resort 1,085 1,037 

 3,825 6,905 

 

(ii)  Over time 

 

 

 

  

Sale of development of properties 8,775 3,439 



 

 

27. OTHER INCOME 

 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 

   
Interest income from bank deposits 46 27 
Gain on change in fair value of investment properties (Note 17) 12,918 5,381 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 29 
Gain on disposal of investment property - 238 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary 575 66 
Net foreign exchange gain - 1,304 

Other sundry income 1,765 485 
   
   
 15,304 7,530 
   

 
 

28. FINANCE COSTS 

 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 

  (Restated) 
   
Interest expense on:   
- bond interest 20 - 
- finance leases 80 57 
- loans from a director - 130 
- bank loans 369 494 
   
   
 469 681 

 
  



 

 

29. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 
 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2016 : 17%) of the estimated assessable income for 

the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant 

jurisdictions. 

 
 

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $’000 $’000 

  (Restated) 

   

Current tax 831 211 

Deferred tax (Note 23) 2,584     557 

 3,415 768 

Overprovision in respect of prior years:   

   -  current tax (561) (72) 

Tax expense 2,854      696 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 

  (Restated) 

   

Profit before income tax 4,904  6,979 
   

   

Income tax expense calculated at 17% (2016 : 17%) 834 1,186 

Income not subject to taxation (23) (915) 

Non-deductible expenses 2,915 95 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (601) (233) 

Effect of unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets - 635 
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other 
jurisdictions 290 - 

Over provision in respect of prior years (561) (72) 

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 2,854 696 
   
   

   



 

 

 

HLH Agri (Cambodia) Co. Ltd ("HLHA") is a Qualified Investment Project (QIP) registered with the 

Council for the Development of Cambodia (“Council”). HLHA is entitled to exemption from the tax 

on profit imposed under the Law on Taxation covering the tax exemption period of up to 9 years 

which comprises 3-year Trigger Period + 3-year + 3-year Priority Period. The validity of this tax 

incentive is dependent on the HLHA meeting all the terms and conditions set by the Council. 

 

In December 2013, HLHA entered into an agreement with a third party for crop cultivation at its 

Kampong Speu agricultural land in Cambodia. Management considered the revenue generated 

under the agreement as distribution of profit from the said agreement and would qualify as QIP 

income under the Cambodian tax law. The concept of such an agreement is presently not well 

recognised in Cambodia and as such, there is no clear tax guidance on such arrangements. 

Additionally, HLHA has unrecognised carried forward tax loss benefits that is subject to conditions 

of utilisation encapsulated in the tax legislation. 

 

As the taxation system in Cambodia is relatively new and complex, with frequently changing 

legislation, it is subject to differing interpretations. Taxes are also subject to review and 

investigation by the taxation authority, who is enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties 

and interest charges. These facts may create significant tax risks in Cambodia. Management 

believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities using reasonable estimates based its 

best judgement and interpretation of the current tax legislation. Differences of interpretation may 

arise on a wide range of tax issues, including the above, depending on the conditions prevailing 

in the country. 

 

The other Cambodia companies of the Group are subject to tax on profit at the rate of 20% of 

taxable income or minimum tax based on 1% of turnover, whichever is higher. 

 

 

  



 

 

30. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

 
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting): 
 Group 
 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Personnel expenses    
- Salaries and bonuses 969 1,999 
- Central Provident Fund contribution 99 96 
- Other short-term benefits 50 25 

 1,118 2,120 

   

Directors’ fees:   

   -  of the Company 134 134 
   

Directors’ remuneration:   

   -  of the Company 1,037 630 

   -  of the subsidiaries 169 - 

Total directors’ remuneration 1,206 630 

   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 3,503 1,722 
Rental of premises and office facilities 421 444 
Legal and professional fees 351 468 
Audit fees:   
- paid to auditors of the Company 105 93 
- paid to other auditors 32 45 

Non-audit fees:   

- paid to auditors of the Company 14 7 
- paid to other auditors 29 11 
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales (Note 12) - 279 
Bad debts written off 68 44 
Loss on fair value of biological assets 1,073 – 
Loss (Gain) on disposal of investment property 126 (238) 

Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 2,966 (1,304) 
Gain on change in fair value of investment property (12,918) (5,381) 
Loss (Gain)on disposal of property, plant and equipment 778 (29) 
   
   
  

Key management and directors' remuneration included above is disclosed in Note 5.  



 

 

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary shares of the 

Company is based on the following data: 

 
 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
  (Restated) 
Earnings:   
   
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 2,050 6,304 
Interest on convertible bonds (Note 22) 17 - 
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per 

share 2,067 6,304 
   

   
Number of shares   
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes 

of basic earnings per share  6,658,068,582 5,359,182,443 
   

   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes 
   Of diluted earnings per share 6,658,068,582 5,359,182,443 
   

   
   
Earnings per share (cents) 0.031 0.118 

 
 
In 2017, the share options are antidilutive and hence disregarded in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share. 
 

  



 

 

32. DISPOSALS  
 

As referred to in Note 18 to the financial statements, the Group disposed one subsidiary in China 
and two subsidiaries in Cambodia during the year. Details of the disposal are as follows: 

 
Carrying amounts of net assets over which control was lost  
                              
          2017 
          $'000 
Assets    
    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   8 
Other receivables and deposits   66 

Advances to a non-controlling shareholder   16 
Inventories   6 

Total current assets   96 

    
Current liabilities    
Other payables and accruals   181 
Provision for taxation   36 

Total current liabilities   217 

    

Net liabilities derecognised   (121) 

    

Consideration received:    

Cash   343 

 

 
 
 
  

  2017 

  $'000 

Gain on disposal    

Consideration received  343 

Net liabilities derecognised   121 

Non-controlling interest derecognised  6 

Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net   

assets of the subsidiary reclassified from equity on   

loss of control of subsidiary  105 

Gain on disposal  575 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal    

Cash consideration received  343 

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of  (8) 
 
  335 



 

 

 

33. COMMITMENTS 

 

(a) The Group as lessor 

 

The Group entered into a management agreement with a third party company, granting the 

Company the right to manage, operate, and collect revenue in relation to the Group’s resort 

in Singapore. The third party company is owned by a former director of the subsidiary and 

an insignificant shareholder of the Group. As at December 31, 2017, this non-cancellable 

lease has remaining lease term of 9 months (2016: 21 months). Upon the expiry of the lease 

term and subject to the Group’s approval, the lease may be renewed for a further fixed term 

of 36 months, up to till 2024, with upward revision of the rental charge. 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with the tenant for the future 

minimum lease payments: 

 

 Group 
 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 
   

Within one year 810 1,080 
Later than one year but not later than five years - 810 
   
   
 810 1,890 
   
   

 

(b) The Group as lessee 

 

The Group has various commercial leases in Cambodia for the use of office premise and 

agricultural operations. These non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of between 

one to five years. The operating leases do not contain any escalation clauses and do not 

provide for contingent rents. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities 

concerning dividends, additional debts or entering into other leasing agreements. 

 

In 2010, a subsidiary entered into a concession agreement with the Royal Government of 

Cambodia to obtain rights to use a parcel of land with an area of 9,985 hectares for a period 

of 70 years. Under the concession agreement, the subsidiary shall pay US$1 per hectare per 

annum from year 2014 to year 2078 for environmental protection of the land parcel in 

accordance with the Law on Environmental Protection Area and National Resource 

Management.  

 

  



 

 

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense in profit or loss for the financial year 

ended December 31, 2017 amounted to $421,000 (2016: $444,000). Future minimum lease 

payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as described above as at 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

 

 Group 

 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Not later than one year 69 189 

Later than one year but not later than five years 348 26 

Later than five years 352 1,194 
   
   
 769 1,409 
   

  

 Co-operation agreements 

 

(i) Aoral District in Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia 

 

On December 26, 2013, HLHA entered into an agreement with Zhong Fu International 

Investment (Cambodia) Ltd ("Zhong Fu") in respect of the cultivation, processing and 

production of cassava (or maize and sugarcane) at HLHA's 9,985 hectares of farmland 

plantation (Note 12(d)). The agreement is for a period of 5 years, with an option to renew 

for a further term of 5 years, and commenced in 2014. Under the agreement, HLHA shall 

grant Zhong Fu the right to use the plantation and Zhong Fu shall be solely responsible for 

all costs relating to, the planting, harvesting, processing, and sale of cassava cultivated on 

the plantation. In return, Zhong Fu shall pay HLHA US$3 million for the first year, US$3 

million for the second year and subsequently US$4 million each year for the next 3 years, 

either in cash or crop of the equivalent value based on the market prices, at HLHA's option. 

The amount to be paid by Zhong Fu for the first year was subsequently revised to US$2.55 

million in 2014 by way of an addendum to the agreement. 

 

On October 13, 2016, HLHA requested Zhong Fu to hand over approximately 2,400 hectares 

of the farmland which the Group is currently using for their own cultivation In this respect, 

the 2,400 hectares has been reclassified from investment property to property, plant and 

equipment. 

 

Under the agreement, Zhong Fu has the option to purchase the farmland at a price of US$60 

million during the 5-year agreement period. This is subject to the approval of the Group’s 

shareholders, and compliance with all applicable laws and regulations of relevant government 

or regulatory authorities. 

 

During the year, the above agreement was terminated and the Group took over the 

agricultural land and the cassava crops. 

  



 

 

(ii) Prek Village, Thpong District, Kampong Speu Province, Cambodia 

 

In March 2016, HLHA entered into a co-operation agreement with a local farmer in respect 

of the cultivation, processing and production of cassava at HLHA’s 450 hectares of farmland 

plantation. The agreement is for a period of 3 years, with an option to renew for a further 

term of 5 years. Under the agreement, HLHA shall grant the third party the right to use the 

plantation and the third party shall be solely responsible for all costs relating to, the planting, 

harvesting, processing, and sale of cassava cultivated on the plantation. 

 

During the year, the above agreement was terminated and the Group took over the 

agricultural land and the cassava crops. 

  

 

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

The Company has provided corporate guarantees of $5,232,000 (2016: $6,313,000) for subsidiaries’ 

loans and borrowings. 

 

The Company has also undertaken to provide financial support to certain subsidiaries for deficiencies 

in their shareholders’ funds and to extend adequate funding to meet their operational needs. 

 

 

35. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 

services, and has three reportable operating segments as follows: 

 

(i) Agriculture Division 

 

The Agriculture Division carries on the business of agricultural development, cultivation, 

branding and merchandising, and distribution of cassava, and includes the co-operation 

agreements with third parties to operate the agriculture land, and the agriculture-related 

resort business. 

 

(ii) Property Development and Real Estate Division 

 

The Property Development and Real Estate Division is carrying on the business of investment 

and prime development of commercial and residential properties.  

 

(iii) Others 

 

Others segment comprises: 

 

(a) the Company who is engaged in the business of investment holding generating 

income from management services provided to related companies and dividend; and  

 

(b) other subsidiaries whose scope of activities and financial results are not material 

enough to be reported under a separately reportable segment or which are currently 

dormant. 

 

  



 

 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose 

of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment 

performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects is 

measured differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well 

as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

 

 

Agriculture 

division 

Property 

development and 

real estate 

division Others 

Adjustments and 

eliminations Group 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      

2017      

      

Revenue      

External sales 3,825 8,775 - - 12,600 

Inter-segment  

 sales 

 

912 

 

- 

 

2,880 

 

(3,792) - 
      
      
 4,737 8,775 2,880 (3,792) 12,600 
      
      
      
Results:      
Interest income 3 43 - - 46 
Gain (Loss) on 
   disposal of 

   property, plant 

   and equipment (778) - - - (778) 
Gain on change in 
   fair value of 
   investment 
   properties - 12,918 - - 12,918 
Depreciation 

expense (3,333) (115) (55) - (3,503) 

Finance costs (310) (135) (24) - (469) 
Income tax benefit 

(expense) 323 (3,177) - - (2,854) 
Segment profit 
  (loss) (11,688) 14,015 1,851 (2,128) 2,050 
      
      
      

Assets:      
Additions to 
   non-current 

   assets 500 398 9 - 907 
Segment assets 117,724 43,337 1,596 - 162,657 
      

      
Segment  

   liabilities 

 

(14,830) 

 

(17,653) 

 

(2,508) 

 

- (34,991) 
      
      
      

 

 

Agriculture 

division 

Property 
development and 

real estate 

division Others 

Adjustments and 

eliminations Group 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 



 

 

      
2016      
      
Revenue      

External sales 6,905 3,439 – – 10,344 
Inter-segment  
 sales 

– – 120 (120) 
– 

      
      
 6,905 3,439 120 (120) 10,344 
      
      
      
Results:      
Interest income 3 24 – – 27 

Gain (Loss) on 
   disposal of 

   property, plant 
   and equipment 41 (12) – – 29 
Gain on change in 
   fair value of 
   investment 

   properties 5,039 – 342 – 5,381 
Depreciation expense (1,575) (127) (20) – (1,722) 
Finance costs (547) (134) – – (681) 

Income tax expense (557) (139) - - (696) 
Segment profit 
   (loss) 7,109 (1,036) (765) 975 6,283 
      
      
      
Assets:      
Additions to 

   non-current 

   assets 719 154 194 – 1,067 
Segment assets 134,605 24,104 1,109 - 159,818 
      

      

Segment 
   liabilities 

 

(22,125) 

 

(6,361) 

 

(590) 

 

34 (29,042) 
      
      
      
 

  



 

 

Geographical information 

 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of 

customers and assets respectively are as follows: 

 

 

Revenues from external 

customers Non-current assets 

 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     

Singapore 1,287 1,037 11,732 11,757 

Cambodia 11,313 9,307 121,107 113,310 
     
     
Total 12,600 10,344 132,839 125,067 
     
     
     

 

Information about a major customer 

 

Included in revenue is an amount of $Nil (2016: $5,094,000) pertaining to a co-operation 

agreement entered into by a subsidiary with a third party for cultivation of cassava. 

 

Other than the aforementioned, the Group is not significantly reliant on revenue derived 

from any major customer or Group of customers under common control during the year. 

 

 

36. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

On April 7, 2018, the Group proposed to change the name of the Company from “HLH Group Limited” 

to “Hong Lai Huat Group Limited” to better represent the Group’s corporate identity, business 

activities and business direction. 

 

In addition, on April 7, 2018, the Company also proposed to consolidate every thirty ordinary shares 

in the capital of the Company into one ordinary share.  

 

The above proposals will be subject to shareholders’ approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting 

to be held on April 30, 2018. 

  



 

 

37. RESTATEMENT AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Certain restatements have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance 
comparability with the current year’s financial statements due to early adoption of FRS 115 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers and recognition of finance lease liabilities in relation to the lease 
payments pertaining to the leasehold land used for agricultural purpose, which were classified as 

operating leases in prior years. 
 
As a result, certain line items have been amended in the statements of financial position, statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements 
of cash flow, and the related notes to the financial statements. Comparative figures have been 
adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
 

The items were reclassified as follows: 

  
 Previously  As 
 reported  restated 
     2016     Adjustments    2016    
 $’000 $’000 $’000 

           Group 
 

   Statement of financial position 
 
 Development properties 19,902 (1,612) 18,290 
 Other payables and accruals - current (1,183) (4,364) (5,547) 
 Other payables and accruals – non-current (7,803) 7,803 - 

 Finance lease liabilities – non- current (45) (663)              (708) 
 Provision for taxation (36) (133) (169) 
    Accumulated losses 12,856 (1,031) 11,825 

    Equity attributable to owners of  
  the Company (129,768) (1,031) (130,799) 
 
 

 Consolidated statement of profit or loss and  
other comprehensive income 

  
 Revenue 6,905 3,439 10,344 
 Cost of sales (885) (1,612) (2,497) 
 Finance costs (630) (51) (681) 

 Income tax expense (563) (133) (696) 
 Profit for the year 4,640 1,643 6,283 

  
 
 Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 
 Profit before tax 5,203 1,776 6,979 

 Interest expense 630 51 681 
 Foreign exchange adjustments (1,072) (508) (1,580) 
 Operating profit before movement in working capital 785 1,320 2,105 
 Changes in development properties (5,138) 1,612 (3,526) 
 Changes in other payables and accruals 5,438 (3,449) 1,989 
 Net cash used in operating activities (5,260) (1,032) (6,292) 

 

  



 

 

 Previously  As 
 reported  restated 
     2015    Adjustments    2015    
 $’000 $’000 $’000 

           Group 
  
 Statement of financial position 
 

 Finance lease liabilities – non- current (79) (612)              (691) 
    Accumulated losses 17,517 612 18,129 
    Equity attributable to owners of  

  the Company (106,085) 612 (105,473) 
 
 

38. PRONOUNCEMENTS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 

Adoption of a new financial reporting framework in 2018 - In December 2017, the Accounting 

Standards Council (ASC) has issued a new financial reporting framework - Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)), which is to be adopted by Singapore-incorporated 

companies listed on the Singapore Exchange (SGX), for annual periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2018. SFRS(I) is identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Group and the Company will be adopting 

the new framework for the first time for financial year ending December 31, 2018 and SFRS(I) 1 

First-time Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) will be applied in the 

first set of SFRS(I) financial statements.  

 

 

SFRS(I) 1 First-time Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) 

 

As a first-time adopter, the Group and the Company are to apply retrospectively, accounting policies 

based on each SFRS(I) effective as at end of the first SFRS(I) reporting period (December 31, 2018), 

except for areas of exceptions and optional exemptions set out in SFRS(I) 1. In the first set of 

SFRS(I) financial statements for the financial year ending December 31, 2018, an additional opening 

statement of financial position as at date of transition (January 1, 2017) will be presented, together 

with related notes. Reconciliation statements from previously reported FRS amounts and explanatory 

notes on transition adjustments are required for equity as at date of transition (January 1, 2017) 

and as at end of last financial period under FRS (December 31, 2017), and for total comprehensive 

income and cash flows reported for the last financial period under FRS (for the year ended December 

31, 2017). Additional disclosures may also be required for specific transition adjustments if 

applicable. 

 

Management has performed a preliminary analysis of the transition options and other requirements 

of SFRS(I) and has determined that there will be no change to the Group’s and the Company’s 

current accounting policies under FRS or material adjustments on the initial transition to the new 

framework, other than those that may arise from implementing certain new SFRS(I) pronouncements 

effective at the same time (see below), and the election of certain transition options available under 

SFRS(I) 1.  

 

  



 

 

Management may be electing the following transition options that will result in material 

adjustments on transition to the new framework: 

 

• Option to reset the translation reserve to zero as at date of transition 

 

As SFRS(I) 1 requires a first-time adopter to apply accounting policies based on each SFRS(I) 

effective as at end of the first SFRS(I) reporting period (December 31, 2018), it is not possible to 

know all possible effects as at date of authorisation of current year’s financial statements. If there 

are any subsequent pronouncements on SFRS(I) that are effective as at December 31, 2018, they 

may impact the disclosures of estimated effects described below. 

 

 
 New SFRS(I) that may have impact - The following SFRS(I) pronouncements are expected to 

have an impact to the Group and the Company in the periods of their initial application under the 

new SFRS(I) framework: 

 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 

• SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments  

• SFRS(I) 1-40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property 

 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 

• SFRS(I) 16 Leases 

• SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 

 

  



 

 

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments 

 

SFRS(I) 9 introduces new requirements for (i) the classification and measurement of financial assets 

and financial liabilities (ii) general hedge accounting and (iii) impairment requirements for financial 

assets. 

 

Key requirements of SFRS(I) 9: 

 

• All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 9 are required to be 

subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt instruments that 

are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 

and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent 

accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective 

is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that 

have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). All other debt instruments and 

equity investments are measured at FVTPL at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In 

addition, under SFRS(I) 9, entities may make an irrevocable election, at initial recognition, 

to measure an equity investment (that is not held for trading) at FVTOCI, with only dividend 

income generally recognised in profit or loss. 

 

• With some exceptions, financial liabilities are generally subsequently measured at amortised 

cost. With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, SFRS(I) 

9 requires that the amount of change in fair value of such financial liability that is attributable 

to changes in the credit risk be presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 

recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 

income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch to profit or loss. Changes in fair 

value attributable to the financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to 

profit or loss. 

 

• In relation to the impairment of financial assets, SFRS(I) 9 requires an expected credit loss 

model to be applied. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for 

expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date 

to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer 

necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. 

 

 

SFRS(I) 1-40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property 

 

The pronouncement: 

• retains the requirement that a transfer into, or out of, investment property can be made when, 

and only when, evidence of a change of use of the property exists; and 

• clarifies that the list of events constituting evidence of a change of use has occurred are only 

examples. 

 

 

SFRS(I) 16 Leases  

 

The Standard provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their 

treatment in the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. The identification of leases, 

distinguishing between leases and service contracts, are determined on the basis of whether there 



 

 

is an identified asset controlled by the customer. 

 

Significant changes to lessee accounting are introduced, with the distinction between operating and 

finance leases removed and assets and liabilities recognised in respect of all leases (subject to 

limited exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). The Standard maintains 

substantially the lessor accounting approach under the existing framework. 

 

Management does not plan to early adopt SFRS(I) 16 for financial year ending December 31, 2018. 

 

 

SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 

The Interpretation provides guidance on determining the accounting tax position when there is 

uncertainty over income tax treatments. 
 

The Interpretation requires an entity to: 
• determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and 
• assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or 

proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings: 

o if probable, the entity should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax 
treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax filings. 

o if not probable, the entity should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting 
tax position. 

 

Management does not plan to early adopt SFRS(I) INT 23 for financial year ending December 31, 

2018. 

 

 

  



 

 

Impact assessment  

 

The Group does not expect the adoption of the above SFRS(I) 9 to have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in the period of their initial adoption. Management did not early 
adopt SFRS(I) 9 for financial year ended December 31, 2017. 

 

SFRS(I) 16 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Management 
expects the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 to have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Group in the period of their initial adoption, in particular on property, plant and equipment, finance 
lease liabilities and depreciation expenses. It is currently impracticable to disclose any further 

information on the known or reasonably estimated impact to the financial statements of the Group.



 

 

 


